IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DONALD RAY TOBIAS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1687-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Donald Ray Tobias

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DONALD RAY TOBIAS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1687-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TOBIAS'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Amite County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of Armed Robbery against the appellant, Donald Ray Tobias. The trial judge subsequently sentenced the Appellant to serve a term of thirteen (13) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. After serving three (3) years of the sentence, the remaining ten (10) years to be served on post release supervision with the first five (5) non formal reporting supervision. The conviction and sentence followed a jury trial on January 31, 2008, Honorable Forrest Al Johnson, Circuit Judge, presiding. Tobias is currently in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

On November 23, 2006, which was Thanksgiving Day, Davis Bell was going to meet his sons and grandson to hunt. Tr. 26. Bell belonged to a hunting club in Amite County. Tr. 25. Around three forty or three forty-five in the afternoon, Bell arrived at the hunting club. Tr. 26. According to Bell's testimony, the hunting club did not have a camp house, they had a mailbox on Springhill Church Road. *Id.* Members of the hunting club are required get the register log out of the mailbox and register the date, time, and location where they are going to be during their hunting activities. *Id.*

Bell testified that he had arrived at the camp mailbox and began to fill out the register log when someone approached him from behind and started striking him with a pipe. Tr. 27. Bell continued to state that he was aware that someone was behind him and as he began to turn around to see what the noise was behind him, someone struck him on the left shoulder. Tr. 28. As Bell was trying to dodge and get out of the way, the man was standing over him with a pipe. *Id.* Bell also trying to defend himself put his hands up to block the pipe, which resulted in breaking one hand and bruising the other one. *Id.*

Bell estimated that he was hit a total of eight times with the pipe. Tr. 29. Five times in the head, once one the shoulder, and once on each hand. *Id.* At some point during this incident, Bell either fell down or was knocked down on the ground. Tr. 28-29. Bell ended up on his stomach on the ground. Tr. 29. As soon as Bell was on the ground, the attacker started demanding Bell's wallet. *Id.*

Bell rolled over on his side and got his wallet out and pitched it as far as he could to

get the attacker away from him. Tr. 30. The man grabbed the wallet and ran to the road yelling "go, go, go." *Id.* Bell heard a door slam and the car drive off down the road, but did not see the car drive away from the scene. *Id.*

As soon as Bell heard the call leave, he called 911. Tr. 31. Bell feared that because he had lost a lot of blood that he might faint. Tr. 31-32. Bell then called Phillip Hewitt because he lived near the location of attack. Tr. 32. He told Hewitt what had happened and to come stay with him until the ambulance gets there. *Id.* Bell, who previously was to meet his sons at the hunting club, called one of his sons and told him what happened. *Id.* His son got there quickly. *Id.* Upon arrival of his son, he told his son to take pictures. *Id.* Bell stated that the attacker was wearing a gray-hooded sweat shirt. Tr. 29. The hood on the sweat shirt was up but the attacker's face was showing. *Id.* After being checked out at the scene, Bell was taken to the Southwest Mississippi Medical Center emergency room. Tr. 35. At the hospital they put stitches in the gashes on his head, and told him that his hand was broken. Tr. 36. Bell stated that he was only at the hospital around three hours. *Id.* Bell was treated and released; he did not have to stay the night in the hospital. *Id.*

While Bell was at the hospital, Sheriff Tim Perkins called him and asked for him to wait at the hospital. Tr. 37. Perkins was on his way to the hospital and had some photographs that he wanted Bell to look at and see if he could identify the assailant. *Id.* Bell identified Donald Ray Tobias from the photographs. *Id.*

However according to Gwendolyn Allen, she was with Tobais all day till about four or five that afternoon. Tr. 72. Allen has been Tobias's girlfriend for about three years. Tr.

75. Allen stated that they were in bed all day long. Tr. 72. Around four or five that afternoon, Allen got up and got ready to go have Thanksgiving Dinner with her daughter. *Id.* Tobias did not go to dinner with Allen at her daughter's house. *Id.* Allen testified that they were back from her sister's house by six or six-thirty. Tr. 73.

Allen did admit that Tobias did get up a few times during Thanksgiving Day. Tr. 75. She stated that Tobias would get up and go over to Ron's house or Lewis's house and get some cigarettes from some friends. *Id.* Allen continued to state that even thought Tobias did get up a few times during the day, he was only gone five or ten minutes at a time. *Id.*

According to the testimony of Lois Caston, Tobias was at the same house she was at on Thanksgiving Day. Tr. 77. She lived in the house as did Allen. Tr. 78. She went into the bedroom around three-thirty and Tobias was in the bed with Allen. *Id.* Caston remembers the time because she was bringing Allen and Tobias some food. *Id.*

Caston stated that they went to Allen's daughter's house around five that afternoon for Thanksgiving dinner and arrived back the house around six-thirty. Tr. 79. She stated that Tobias was at the house when she left to go to Allen's daughter's house for Thanksgiving. *Id.*

Caston did state that the only times she saw Tobias was when she took him and Allen some food. Tr. 82. However, both times she went into the bedroom Tobias was in the bedroom. *Id.* Caston testified that those times were nine that morning and three-thirty that afternoon. *Id.*

Charles Rollins, who works for the McComb police department, testified that Tobias

came over to his house on a bicycle on Thanksgiving Day before dark. Tr. 83. Rollins stated that Tobias came by the house and told him someone had told him that the Sheriff's office was trying to get in touch with Tobias. Tr. 84. Rollins called the sheriff's office and Tobias talked to someone at the sheriff's office. *Id*.

Rollins stated that Tobias was wearing blue jeans or a blue jumpsuit or something similar. Tr. 85. Tobias then stayed at Rollins's house for a little while and then left on his bicycle. *Id.* He rode the bicycle two to three blocks to Rollins's house. *Id.*

According to Tobias's testimony, he lives with his mother on Springhill Road, but he was staying with his girlfriend in McComb. Tr. 88. His girlfriend lives at Ms. Louise's house. *Id.* Tobias testified that he stayed in bed with Allen all day on Thanksgiving Day until about four or five that afternoon. *Id.* They got out of bed because Allen was going to eat at her daughter's house. *Id.*

Tobias lives with his mother, but he had been staying over with Allen since Tuesday. Tr. 88-89. He had been doing some remodeling at the house. Tr. 88. On Wednesday night he was putting up paneling and putting tile on the floor. Tr. 89.

Tobias did state that on Thanksgiving Day that he did get up a few times to go get some cigarettes. *Id.* He testified that he got up around nine-thirty that morning and then again around one that afternoon. *Id.* He got up around forty-thirty that afternoon when Allen got up to go to her daughter's house for Thanksgiving dinner. Tr. 90.

Tobias contended that when he got up out of bed, that the tried to call his mother's house to check on his brother. *Id.* He then called a neighbor down the street from his

mother's house, and the neighbor stated that the police had went down toward his mother's house. *Id.* Tobias found out that the sheriff's office was looking for him, and he went to Rollins house to find out why they were looking for him. Tr. 92.

Tobias further testified that he does not have a car or access to a car. Tr. 96. He also stated that he was wearing blue jeans that day and does not own a gray sweatshirt or even a hooded sweatshirt. Tr. 98. Tobias strongly asserts that he did not come out to Amite County and take a pipe and hit Bell in the head and take his wallet. Tr. 99.

Tobias is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The person that was attacked Bell had some questionable views of the attack. First, Bell identified Tobias with certainty even though his glasses fell off and the attacker was wearing a hood over his head.

Also, Bell said that his eyes were basically going right into the person's eyes that was attacking him. *Id.* Bell testified that he is five foot nine inches tall. *Id.* Tobias testified that he is six foot six inches tall. Tr. 95. The height difference is nine inches. It would almost be impossible for Bell and Tobias to be staring at each other face to face.

Besides, Tobias had numerous people testify that he was not the attacker because he was at the home of his girlfriend. In addition to Allen, testifying that Tobias was with her, Caston stated that Tobias was there all day and she took him and Allen food twice that day. Tr. 78. She brought Tobias and Allen food at nine that morning and again at three-thirty that

afternoon and both times Tobias was at the house. Id.

Furthermore, according to the times of the phone calls, and the times that everyone saw Tobias at the house with Allen, it would be impossible for Tobias to have been the one who attacked Bell.

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and this was reversible error. Tobias is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TOBIAS'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In trial counsel's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV) or in the Alternative Motion for a New Trial, counsel specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C.P. 41-42, R.E. 14. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 43, R.E. 16.

In *Bush v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review as follows:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). We have stated that on a motion for a new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. *Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc.*, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Herring*, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight

of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005) (footnotes omitted).

In the present case, Tobias is at a minimum entitled to a new trial as the verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The State presented the testimony of Bell. Bell had a few questionable comments in his testimony. First of all Bell stated that he wears glasses to read. Tr. 41. He also stated that he was wearing the glasses in order to fill out the hunting log. *Id.* Even though his bifocal glasses got knocked off, Bell was able to clearly see someone standing face to face with him in great enough detail to pick his picture out of a line-up?

Bell also stated that the man was wearing a sweatshirt with a hood on his head but that hood was not covering his face. Tr. 29. However, when Bell was asked what was that person doing when he turned around and he saw him Bell stated, "Striking me with a pipe." If Bell was being struck by a pipe, he could not have seen the person's face with such great detail as to determine who attacked him through a photo line-up of five people.

Bell continued to state that he was looking the person straight in the face during the attack. Tr. 43. Bell said that his eyes were basically going right into the person's eyes that was attacking him. *Id.* Bell testified that he is five foot nine inches tall. *Id.* Tobias testified that he is six foot six inches tall. Tr. 95. The height difference is nine inches. It would

almost be impossible for Bell and Tobias to be staring at each other face to face. Furthermore, Bell would have acknowledged to the police that someone that tall would have attacked him, because of Tobias's unique height. Bell stated that Tobias was a little bit taller than him. Tr. 46. If Tobias had attacked Bell, when Bell turned around he would have very well be staring at the bottom of Tobias's head or neck.

In addition, the police never found any type of weapon that was used during the attack. Bell's wallet was never found, nor any anything else that was stolen other than a Sears Card. Tr. 45. No other evidence was presented at all that connected Tobias to the attacked other than the testimony of Bell. Bell picked Tobias out of a photo line-up presented by the Sheriff. Bell whose glasses fell off and was being hit by a pipe was still able to identify a person who was wearing a sweatshirt that had his head covered by a hood from the sweatshirt?

Tobias presented numerous witnesses who stated that he was at the house during the attack on Bell. Gwen Allen, Lois Caston, and Charles Rollins all stated that they saw Tobias on that Thanksgiving Day. Tr. 72, 77, 82. Allen stated that she was in bed with Tobias all day till around four or five that afternoon, except for a few occasions when Tobias stepped out to get some cigarettes from some nearby friends. Tr. 75.

Caston stated that Tobias was there all day and she took him and Allen food twice that day. Tr. 78. She brought Tobias and Allen food at nine that morning and again at three-thirty that afternoon and both times Tobias was at the house. *Id.*

Rollins, a McComb police officer, stated that Tobias rode his bicycle to his house

before dark. Tr. 83-84. Tobias came over asked Rollins to find out why the sheriff's office was looking for him. Tr. 84. Rollins called the sheriff's department and Tobias talked to the sheriff's department. Tr. 84-85. Tobias then left on his bicycle and went back Allen's house. Tr. 85.

Tobias also testified that he was not involved in the attack. Tr. 99. He also did not know why the Amite County Sheriff's Office was looking for him. Tr. 101. Tobias stated that he got out of bed around four-thirty or five that afternoon. Tr. 90. Allen was going to her daughter's house to eat Thanksgiving dinner. Tr. 88.

Tobias said that when he got up out of bed, that the tried to call his mother's house to check on his brother. Tr. 90. He then called a neighbor down the street from his mother's house, and the neighbor stated that the police had went down toward his mother's house. *Id.* Tobias found out that the sheriff's office was looking for him, and he went to Rollins house to find out why they were looking for him. Tr. 92.

According to the times of the phone calls, and the times that everyone saw Tobias at the house with Allen, it would be impossible for Tobias to have been the one who attacked Bell.

Bell stated that he arrived at the hunting club mailbox around three forty or three forty-five. According to the phone records that were presented into evidence, Tobias had called his house checking on his brother at four o'clock that afternoon. Exhibit 5, R.E. 17. According to Tobias's testimony it takes nearly twenty-five to thirty minutes to drive from his mother's house to Louise's house, where was staying. Tr. 108.

Officer Joe Hampton stated that from 1101 Wall Street, where Tobias was staying, to the hunting club was 12.7 miles. Tr. 113. Hampton stated that it took him approximately sixteen minutes driving fifty-five to sixty miles per hour. Tr. 113-115.

Even if Tobias had attacked Bell, according to the testimony of Bell and Hampton, it would have been impossible for Tobias to have made a phone call to his house to check on his brother at four o'clock. Bell stated that he was at the hunting camp around three forty or three forty-five and Hampton said it takes approximately sixteen minutes to get from one location to the other.

However, with Bell arriving at the earliest time that he said, by the time he parked the truck, got out walked over to the mailbox, began filled out the hunting log, and was attacked had to have been longer that four minutes.

According to Bell and Hampton, in order for Tobias to have attacked Bell, Tobias would have had to been there at exactly three forty waiting on Bell to get out the truck and begin to fill out the hunting log. Then attack Bell and take his wallet and drive, fifty-five to sixty miles per hour back to the house he was staying and ran straight in and called his house to check on his brother. Even if he did everything as fast as he could, he would not have had enough time. The times just to not match up for Tobias to have been the attacker of Bell.

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Tobias therefore respectfully asserts that the foregoing facts demonstrate that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Tobias contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and therefore the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.