IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DONALD RAY TOBIAS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1687-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that the trial court denied motions for a directed verdict, as well as a motion for a JNOV or a new trial. R 65-68; 144-145. The record reflects that Mr. Davis Bell had a good look at his assailant's face.

Although Bell was attacked with a pipe which broke his hand, he was face to face with the assailant. Nothing was "covering his face." R. 29. Bell identified Tobias in the court room. This was after having identified his photograph from a five man photograph spread. R.30; 37. Bell identified Tobias' photo with "no hesitation whatsoever." R. 53-54. This was only a few hours of the attack upon his person. R. 30.

The record reflects Tobias' photographs is similar to the other unidentified suspects photographs. See State's exhibit 4 in manila envelop marked "Exhibits" for photograph of 5 suspects, including Tobias.

The record reflects evidence in support of most, if not all of the York v. State, 413 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Miss. 1983), identification factors, (Neil v. Biggers, 409 U. S. 188, 199, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401, 411 (1972)) to be considered in assessing the validity of identification testimony. In addition, the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness is sufficient for supporting a conviction. Doby v. State, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988).

While Tobias presented an alibi defense, he admitted there were time gaps in his claim. This was when he was supposedly with his girl friend. This was on November 23, 2006. R. 89-90. Likewise, the inconsistencies in Tobias' denial testimony brought his credibility into question. R.108. The prosecution presented rebuttal testimony to show that Tobias' testimony was inaccurate. R. 114. Tobias admitted to contacting investigators the day of the assault. He inquired about why they were looking for him and asked if he "needed a bondsman." R. 107.

Tobias' testimony merely created a conflict in the evidence the jury resolved in their deliberations. Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983). There was sufficient testimony and evidence in support of Tobias' conviction.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THERE WAS CREDIBLE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF TOBIAS' CONVICTION.

Tobias believes that there was insufficient evidence in support of his conviction. Tobias believes the evidence against him was solely the identification testimony of Mr. Bell. Tobias thinks there was no corroboration from Bell as to his actual height or what he was allegedly wearing at the time of the assault. He also believes that the victim's identification is suspect because he admitted that he had his glasses knocked off during the struggle with his assailant. Tobias thinks his alibit defense proved he could not have been the culprit. Appellant's brief page 1-13.

The record reflects that Mr. Davis Bell went to his hunting club on Springhill Church Road. This was in Amite County on Thanksgiving day, November 23rd, 2006. Bell lived at 509 Lakeview Avenue in McComb. R. 25. He was to be joined by his sons and grandchildren. It was around 3:45 in the afternoon.

While Bell was registering his presence on a written form at a mailbox, he was suddenly attacked.

He was attacked from behind. Someone hit him on the shoulder with "a pipe." Although stunned from receiving blows from the pipe to his body, Bell testified that he was face to face with his assailant. Bell was struck in the head which required some "seventeen stitches." The hand Bell used for protection was broken. Although the attacker had a hooded sweat shirt on, it did not cover his face. Bell testified to having "a good look" at his assailant's face. R. 30. He testified that "he was right in my face, you know, real close." R. 29.

Mr. Bell was eventually knocked or tripped to the ground. The assailant demanded, "give

me your money." R. 29. Bell threw out his wallet. Then he heard the assailant say, "go, go, go" as he ran toward the road. Then Bell heard a door slam and a car drive off. R. 30.

While in the hospital receiving medical care, law enforcement located Bell. See photographic evidence 1-3. Photographs 1 and 3 shows the bleeding from Mr. Bell's head at the scene of the attack. Photograph 2 shows blood on the ground where Bell was lying after being knocked down. This is where he surrendered his wallet.

Officer Hampton took Bell's statement. When Hampton presented a five man photographic spread, which included a photo of Tobias, Mr. Bell picked out Tobias' photo. R. 37. Bell had no trouble identifying the photo as being that of his assailant although he did not know his name. R. 37.

Mr. Bell testified that while he was at the Southwest Medical Center receiving medical attention, he was shown a series of photographs. This photographic identification occurred only a few hours after he had been attacked.

Q. Was there any problem with you identifying that suspect?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you know who he was when you saw him?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was there any question in your mind that that individual was the one that assaulted you?

A. No, sir. R. 37. (Emphasis by appellee).

Deputy Hampton corroborated Bell's testimony. Hampton testified that Bell identified Tobias' unmarked photograph. He testified that there was "no hesitation whatsoever." R. 54.

Q. And, Deputy Hampton, when Mr. Bell was going through those photos was there any hesitation when he picked him out Mr. Tobias?

A. We had five photographs, one through five, and he went through them.

When he got to Donald Tobias, he said, "That's the man right there." No hesitation whatsoever. R. 54. (Emphasis by appellee).

Mr. Bell identified Tobias in the court room. R. 30. He testified that there wasn't any question in his mind that this was the man who attacked him. This was on Thanksgiving day in Amite County.

Q. Is the person that you saw that struck you out there on Springhill Church Roads—is he present in the court room today?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Would you point him out and describe what he's wearing for me, please?
- A. This gentlemen sitting right over here with the black jacket and brown trousers.

Harper: Your Honor, we would ask that the record reflect that the witness has identified the defendant, Donald Ray Tobias. R. 30.

Q. Mr. Bell, is there any question in your mind as to who was standing in front of you on that day?

A. No, sir. R. 30. (Emphasis by appellee).

While Bell uses glasses, he testified in rebuttal that he does so when he is reading and writing. R. 48. He sees well enough not to require glasses most of the time. R. 48. He was wearing them when attacked because he was in the process of signing his name on a hunting club registration form. R. 48.

Mr. Davis Bell testified that the assailant's hood did not cover his face. During the altercation, he testified that the assailant was "right in his face." R. 29. He got "a good look" at him. He remembered his face. It was "vivid" in his memory.

- Q. Was anything covering his face?
- A. Well, the hood was up. His face was showing, but it wasn't covering his face.
- Q. Okay, sir. And you say that he was right in front of you, right in your face?

A. Yes, sir. R. 29. (Emphasis by appellee).

The trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the prosecution's case. R. 65-68.

Mr. Tobias testified that on Thanksgiving day he was at his girl friend's house, Ms. Gwendolyn Allen. R. 88. Tobias testified that he was forty three years old. R. 88. Tobias testified that he was in bed with Ms. Allen most of the day. R. 88. Although admitted he left the house, he believed that it was around nine thirty in the morning and four thirty that afternoon. R. 89-90.

Mr. Tobias denied having gone to the scene of the crime in Amite County or having committed the crime. R.99. He denied owning a hooded sweat shirt. R. 98. Tobias denied having a car or access to a car. R. 88-89. He used a bicycle for transportation.

Mr. Tobias admitted to contacting law enforcement the day of the incident. He wanted to know why they were looking for him, and if he "needed a bondsman." R. 107.

Tobias testified that it would take about "twenty five or thirty minutes" to drive from Ms. Allen's house to the scene of the crime. He believed it was some "twenty miles" between the two destinations. R. 108.

Deputy Joe Hampton testified that Mr. Bell was contacted while he was still at the Southwest Mississippi Medical Center. While at the hospital prior to being released, he was shown a five man photographic line up. Bell identified Tobias's photo as the man who assaulted him with a metal pipe and took his wallet. "No hesitation whatsoever." This identification came a few hours after the actual attack. R. 50-53.

Q. And Deputy Hampton, when Mr. Bell was going through those photos was there any hesitation when he picked out Mr. Tobias?

A. We had five photographs, one through five, and he went through them. When he got to Donald Tobias, he said, "That's the man right there." No

hesitation whatsoever. R. 53-54. (Emphasis by appellee).

In **York v. State**, 413 So.2d 1372, 1378 (Miss. 1982), the Supreme Court held that photographic identifications of suspects was admissible. They would be excluded only where they were shown to be "impermissibly suggestive." This type of suggestiveness could give rise to a later misidentification of a suspect.

Instead, we hold that each case must be considered on its own facts, and that convictions based on eyewitness identification at trial following a pretrial identification by photograph will be set aside on that ground only if the photographic identification procedure was so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. This standard accords with our resolution of a similar issue in **Stovall v. Denno**, 388 U.S. 293, 301-302, 87 S.Ct. 1967 [1972-73], 18 L.Ed.2d 1199, 1206, and with decisions of other courts on the question of identification by photograph.

The Supreme Court stated in Nicholson v. State, 523 So. 2d 68, 72 (Miss. 1988) that the leading case in Mississippi on U.S. v. Wade, 338 U. S. 218, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149, 87 S. Ct. 1926 (1966), and its progeny is York v. State, 413 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Miss. 1983), which states the Neil v. Biggers, 409 U. S. 188, 199, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401, 411 (1972) factors to be considered in assessing the validity of identification testimony.

York goes on to set out the Neil factors to consider in determining whether these standards have been fulfilled:

- 1. Opportunity of the witness to view the accused at the time of the crime.
- 2. The degree of attention exhibited by the witness;
- 3. The accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal;
- 4. The level of certainty exhibited by the witness at the confrontation;
- 5. The length of time between the crime and the confrontation. **Nicholson**, page 72, **Neil**, **supra**, 411.

The record reflects that the time between the crime and the confrontation was only a few

hours. R. 53. Mr. Bell testified to having a good look at his assailant's face. He did not hesitate in identifying Tobias's photograph as the being the facial image of his assailant. His level of certainty was high. He had a high degree of certainty that his assailant was the person who was later determined to be Tobias. Bell identified Tobias as the person who assaulted him for his wallet in the court room. R. 30.

If the description of the assailant was not accurate, it was accurate enough, given the circumstances in the record. The record reflects that the attack upon Bell was sudden and from behind. R. 28. This immediately lead to a struggle. Bell tried to protect his head and face. He was tripped or fell to the ground.

Under these circumstances, Bell's ability to determine the comparative height of the assailant would have been quite limited. And of course discarding of a sweat shirt would not require much time or effort on the part of an assailant.

In McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993), the Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the prosecution was entitled to have the evidence in support of its case taken as true together with all reasonable inferences. Any issue related to credibility or the weight of the evidence was for the jury to decide, not an appeals court.

The three challenges by McClain (motion for directed verdict, request for peremptory instruction, and motion for JNOV) challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. Since each requires consideration of the evidence before the court when made, this Court properly reviews the ruling on the last occasion the challenge was made in the trial court. This occurred when the Circuit Court overruled McClain's motion for JNOV. Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987). In appeals from an overruled motion for JNOV, the sufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law is viewed and tested in a light most favorable to the State. Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992); Wetz at 808; Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986);...The credible evidence consistent with McClain's guilt must be accepted as true. Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974). The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Wetz, at 808, Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss.

1985); May at 781. Matters regarding the weight and credibility of the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. **Neal v. State**, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984);...We are authorized to reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. Wetz at 808; Harveston at 370; **Fisher v. State**, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985).

The record reflects that the trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict at the close of the prosecution's case. He also denied it at the conclusion of the defense's case, which included Tobias' own testimony. R. 65-68; 110-111.

Tobias testified in his own behalf. R. 87-110. He also presented his girl friend and others in an attempt at an alibi defense. Tobias testified that on Thanksgiving day he was at his girl friend's house, Ms Gwendolyn Allen. R. 88. Tobias testified that he was forty three years old. R. 88. Tobias testified that he was in bed with her most of the day. R. 88.

Although he admitted that he went out for some cigarettes several times, he thought this it was around nine thirty in the morning and four thirty that afternoon. R. 89-90. Tobias denied having gone to the scene of the crime in Amite County. R.99. He denied owning a hooded sweat shirt. R. 98. Tobias denied having a car or access to a car. R. 88-89. He used a bicycle for transportation. He denied having assaulted or robbed Mr. Davis Bell.

His girl friend testified that he was with her all day. However, she admitted that he left her house several times allegedly to get cigarettes. R. 75-76.

While Tobias claimed to have made various telephone calls at the time of the incident, he admitted that he was using other person's cell phones to make the calls. R. 99-103.

Tobias testified that he knew the distance from his girl friend's home to the hunting club was twenty miles and would take "twenty five or thirty minutes" to drive there. R. 109. He was "pretty sure about that." R. 108. Tobias' mother lives on Springhill Church Road. R. 63.

The prosecution presented rebuttal witness, Deputy Joe Hampton. He testified that it was "12.7 miles" distance. This was the distance between the crime scene and Ms. Allen's home. Deputy Hampton covered the distance in "sixteen minutes." This distance was covered while driving around fifty five, not at a fast rate of speed.

Deputy Joe Hampton also testified that on Thanksgiving day the day of the attack on Mr. Bell, there was little if any traffic in McComb. This was based upon his own observations as a driver in McComb on that day. R. 114.

Q. Would you tell us how far—what distance it was? You just actually drove it yourself; is that correct? (The distance from 1101 Wall Street, Gwen Allen's home where Tobias claimed to have been on the date in question, to the hunting club on Springhill Church Road, the scene of the crime)

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay tell us what that distance was?

A. It was twelve point seven miles. (12.7).

Q. Okay, sir. And how long did it take you drive that distance?

A. Approximately, sixteen minutes. R. 113. (Emphasis by appellee).

The trial court denied Tobias's motions for a directed verdict. C.P. 65-68; 111-112. The trial court correctly pointed out that the identification testimony of a single witness is sufficient to support a conviction. He found, from all the testimony and evidence, that there was sufficient testimony and evidence for allowing the jury to resolve the conflicts in the evidence, and the credibility issues raised by the testimony from state and defense witnesses.

Court: All right. Let the record show that the Court now having heard the defense case including the testimony of the defendant, the court still finds that there is proper evidence before the court and the jury from which the finder of fact, the jury, could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is, in fact, guilty of the offense charged. So, without going back through all the different findings and reasons of the court, for the same reasons on the motion for a directed verdict, the court is going to,

again, deny the motion for a directed verdict. It's simply a factual case set out for the jury. The law is quite clear that the testimony of a single eyewitness is sufficient in which a defendant can be found guilty. So that will be denied. R. 111. (Emphasis by appellee).

In **Doby v. State**, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988), the Supreme Court stated that the "uncorroborated testimony" of a single witness was sufficient for supporting a conviction.

With this reasoning in mind, the Court holds that the testimony of Conner was legally sufficient to support Doby's conviction for the sale of cocaine. This Court recognizes the rule that persons may be found guilty on the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness. See **Ragland v. State**, 403 So. 2d 146 (Miss. 1981);...

In **Noe v. State**, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993), this Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged that the evidence favorable to the State must be accepted as true with all reasonable inferences. Evidence favorable to the defense must be disregarded.

In judging the sufficiency of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict, or request for peremptory instruction, the trial judge is required to accept as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the state, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and to disregard evidence favorable to the defendant. Clemons v. State, 460 So. 2d 835 (Miss. 1984).

In **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983), the Court stated that any conflicts in the evidence created by testimony from defense witnesses was for the jury "to resolve." This would go to "the weight of the evidence." What the jury believes and who the jury believes as to all the evidence presented is solely for their determination. As stated:

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